IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, PLAINTIFF 
BELOW, RESPONDENT 

vs.) 	 No. 13-074S 
(12-F-90) 

MARCUS PA'lRELE McKlNLEY, DEFENDANT BELOW, 
PETITIONER. 

PETITIONER'S BRIEF 

PAUL R. CASSELL 
COUNSEL FORPETnJONER 

CASSELL & CREWE, P.C. 
340 West Monroe Sl 

Wytheville, VA 24382 
(276) 228-SS66 

'IE 0 lC ~ ~nI 

r~23 ;~';1~\.L:",~c~e~_:"


: SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS" ~~,,',"
" OF WEST VIRGINIA .. 

E-MAIL ADDRESS:pcasse2001@Yahoo.com 

W.Va. State Bar 1.0. #7142 


mailto:ADDRESS:pcasse2001@Yahoo.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Petitioner, Marcus McKinley, was indicted by the February 2012 term of the 

grandjury ofMercer County on one count ofMwder-First Degree. (AI). Mr. McKinley was 

accused ofkilling his girlfriend and the mother ofhis child, Ayanna Patton. (AI). After ajury 

trial, petitioner was convicted ofMurder-First Degree without a recommendation ofmercy from 

the jury. (A22). The trial judge sentenced Mr. McKinley to life in prison without the possibility 

ofparole. (A22). After Mr. McKinley's post trial motions were denied, present counsel was 

appointed to appeal. (A40-A41). 

STATEl.\'IENTOF FACTS 

Appellant's conviction stems from an occurrence on May 19, 201 I in which ~. 

McKinley shot Ayanna Patton in her apartment in Bluefield, West Virginia after spending the 

I Appellant intentionally does not present Assignments ofError # t, #6 and #7 from the Notice of Appeal. 



night with her. (AI). No one else was present at the time ofthe incident. Distraught after the 

incident, Mr. McKinley left the scene and ended up in North Carolina. 

At the time ofarrest, appellant was questioned and revealed that he wasn't trying 

to run and had killed the decedent. These statements occurred prior to being mirandized, but 

after the defendant Was in custody. At a minimum the admission that he did the crime was made 

in response to questioning. (AIII-AI12). Thereafter, despite the fact that appellant asserted his 

right to remain silent, he was questioned by the police regarding the murder weapon. (A97, 

AI13-AI14). 

In addition, while being transported back to West Virginia from North Carolina. 

on June 2, 2011, l'Ar. McKinley made incrimiDating statements to the transporting officers, again 

after having asserted his right to remain silent (A98A-A99). Those statements included 

incriminating himself in the shooting, denying any premeditation, his desires to apologize to her 

family, and hopes forthe setting ofbond. (AIOO-AIOI). These admissions occurred during a 

three hour trip in ~hich the officers bought the appellant dinner and conversed about many 

things. (AI OS). Despite excluding one statement (concerning the murder weapon) made in 

North Carolina after Mr. McKinley asserted his right to remain silent, the trial court allowed the 

introduction ofthe statements made at the time ofarrest and on the return trip. (A4-AS, A97, 

AI23-AI24). 

After being returned to West Virginia, appellant was indicted. (A34). Prior to 

trial, the prosecution provided notice that it sought to introduce two domestic violence incidents 

from month(s) before the day of the shooting. The first incident occurred on March 11,2011 

over two months before the shooting. (A45). In that incident, police were called to the Knights 

Inn in Bluefield, West Virginia. (A46). The decedent alleged that Mr. McKinley had grabbed 
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her by her neck. (A46, A51-54). Importantly, Mr. McKinley reported that the decedent was 

attempting to commit suicide. (A48, ASO). Mr. McKinley saw the officer approaching and 

signaled for him to come over. (AS 1). Such actions are inconsistent with a person who was the 

aggressor. 

The second incident occurred on April 12, 2011 more than a month before the 

shooting. (AS7, A61). In that incident, an argument over a car seat used in exchanging the 

parties' child resulted in an altercation between Mr. McKinley and the decedent (A46-47). Both 

parties were arrested as both exhibited injuries. (A47-48, AS9, A63, A65). Introduction ofthese 

incidents w~ allowed by the trial court as intrinsic evidence. (A2-Al, A76). Defense counsel 

then expressed his need to give the whole story by introducing other incidents ...the bam door 

Was opened to examine significant amounts ofextraneous matters. (A176-178). 

During the investigation into evidence to be used at sentencing, a potential 

conflict ofinterest for the prosecutor, Scott Ash was discovered. After research, it was 

determined that Mr. Ash, while serving in the public defender's office, had actually represented 

Mr. McKinley concerning a criminal case resulting in a conviction for "unlawful shooting" that 

the prosecution sought to use at trial for sentencing purposes. (AI 57-AI 58). The trial court was 

initially reluctant to excuse Mr. Ash. Thus, the parties were able to negotiate a plea agreement 

for Mr. McKinley to plead guilty to murder in the second degree. (AI 58). The record, 

unfortunately, does not identify the terms ofthe plea agreement. In conversations between the 

court and counsel for the parties, which were not recorded, the trial court decided to reject that 

plea. On November 13,2012, the trial court summarized those discussions and rejected the plea 

because it was primarily motivated by the trial court's reluctance to relieve the prosecutor and 
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was opposed by the victim's family. (A6-A7, AIS8-AlS9). A new prosecutor was appointed 

and the trial was continued. (A7). 

After the plea was rejected, and facing trial, defense counsel sought to utilize 

psychiatric testimony, arising from a forensic psychiatric evaluation, ofDr. Bobby Miller to 

exp1ain that Mr. McKinley was experiencing an "extreme emotional disturbance" at the time of 

the homicide and, therefore, could not have deliberated upon or premeditated his actions. (A189, 

AI93-A200, A2()3). Despite the fact that the psychiatrist identified that Mr. McKinley did 

possess a mental condition (admitted1y not recognized by DSM-IV), the trial court, upon motion 

by the state, refused to allow this evidence to be presented at trial. (A9-AIO, Al94-Al95, A20S

A206, A213). 

The case proceeded to trial on March 19-22, 2()13. (A40A). During the course of 

jury selection, counsel for the defendant objected to the lack ofAfrican Americans on the panel, 

but took no further action to develop the issue. (A264-A26S). Apparently, the jury questionnaire 

process sought by the defense had e1irnjnated many minority potential jurors. Counsel for the 

defendant eventually requested that the last Afiican-Americanjuror be struck for cause. (A407-

A408). 

Following opening statements, the state presented evidence from 29 witnesses. 

The prosecution rust called Patrolman Davis who is a Bluefield Police Department Officer. 

Patrolman Davis found the decedent's body on May 19,2011. (A496-AS03) When found, she 

was in a fetal position with her head facing down in between a wall and a gap between the 

mattress on the bed. (AS04). 
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The next witness called was Crystal Hick. Ms. Hick lived in the same aparbnent 

complex as the decedent and was her neighbor. (ASII). Ms. Hick heard a noise and then heard 

someone leaving the apartment and running down the stairs. (A511-A512). 

Ms. Howard, an employee ofthe West Virginia State Police Crime Lab, testified 

that she was the forensic analyst who evaluated the sex crime kit from the decedent. (A520-521). 

The sex crime kit revealed no semen or other signs ofsexual activity. (A522-523). 

Kent Cochran was called next to testify about his work as the fire and tool mark 

examiner with the West Virginia State Police Forensic Laboratory. (A528). Officer Cochran 

independently verified that the fired bullets provided by the police matched the .45 caliber 

weapon that was recovered. (AS40). 

Officer Macewan was another employee ofthe West Virginia State Police 

Forensic Laboratory within the forensic analysis trace evidence section and drug identification

section. (ASSS). According to her, an analysis ofa jacket owned by the Defendant revealed 

gunshot residue. (ASs6-ASs8). 

The state next called Robert Carson, a West Virginia State Police audio expert. 

His testimony concerned his enhancement ofa recording. (As63-AS6S). 

Trooper First Class I.M. Ellison ofthe West Virginia State Police was called next 

to discuss his work in processing the crime scene. The trooper identified the crime scene 

photographs. (AS 67-A57s). Importantly, the trooper also testified to blood splatter evidence that 

he found at the crime scene. The trooper defined blood splatter evidence as "what happens after 

the bullet passes tbrough the body and then the blood will actually make a certain pattern on the 

wall". (As7s) Defense counsel objected to this testimony and moved to strike the evidence 

unless the trooper was properly qualified. (A576-AS77). The Court overruled the objection. 
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(A577) Upon reviewing the photograph exhibits showing the blood splatter, the trooper then 

testified that "must like I said just suspected that was the blood that came from the victim 

whenever, you know, whenever she was shot." (A577). 

The trooper also testified about various casings that were found (spent cartridges) 

and their locations. (A581-589) Thereafter, the photographs depicting the blood spatter 

evidence were admitted into evidence for the jury to review over defense counsel's objection. 

(A590-591). During examination, the prosecutor asked the trooper to provide expert testimony 

regarding where the gun was or where the shooter was at the time based upon the shell casings 

final positioning. Over defense counsel's objection, the trooper stated that in a lay "opinion" that 

the shooter would have been in the "center ofthe bed facing the victim [and] shooting in the 

direction ofthe victim for all ofthe rounds to go where they did". (A601-A603). The trooper 

confirmed that he had only regular crime scene training and was not a "superior, expert, or 

doctor" in ballistics. (A604). 

Next called was the Trooper Shrewsbury from the Princeton detachment who 

arrived and served as the team leader for the crime scene. (A606). The trooper testified as to 

obtaining shell cases from the scene as well as spent bullets recovered from the scene. (A607

609). 

Alice Walton, another neighbor of the victim who was present on the date ofthe 

shooting, testified that at approximately 10:45 on the night before the shooting, she heard Ayanna 

(the decedent) arguing with a man but she could not tell who it was. Around 6: 15 or 6:20 the 

next moming, she heard two real loud bangs and someone running down the back steps. (A613-

A614). 
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Christopher Vance ofthe West Virginia State Police reviewed a cellular telephone 

that was provided to him. (A620-A626). The phone allegedly contained information from the 

defendant in the form oftext messages asking the recipient to "[p]ray for me. I did not want this 

to happen. I seen that shit andjust lost it." (A627). Another text message advised "I'm so sorry. 

I loved her more than anything." (A628). Additional messages also ask for forgiveness. (A629). 

Brittany Pannell, who was a long-time friend ofthe decedent, testified that 

Marcus McKinley had text messaged her attempting to locate the decedent's apartment. (A660-

A662). 

Shay Gravely, who identified herself as a best friend ofthe decedent testified that 

the decedent and the defendant had been boyfriend and girlfriend for roughly between three and a 

halfand four years. (A668-A669). She also testified that the decedent had told her mother that 

the decedent did not want anything else to do with the defendant. (A669). She was the recipient 

ofthe text message asking for her to "pray for me I did not want this to happen. I seen that shit 

and just lost it." (A670). The text message was from the decedent's phone but had actually been 

texted to her by the defendant. (A670). 

Cherise Calloway was another friend of the decedent. She testified that the 

decedent had sought her help in trying to get away from the defendant because he was 

"controlling her". She had also introduced the decedent to Sandra Dorsey, a domestic violence 

advocate the witness thought would be able to help the decedent. (A675). 

After completing the fIrst day of trial, the State continued with witness, Sandra 

Dorsey, on the next day. Ms. Dorsey is currently employed as a magistrate in Mercer County as 

of January 1, 2013. (B 12). Prior to serving as a magistrate, Ms. Dorsey oversaw the batterer's 

intervention program at the Mercer Day Report Center and Raleigh Day Report Center. (B 12). 
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She started working with victims of domestic violence in 1996 and then in 2006 started a social 

work program. (Bi3). Ms. Dorsey worked with the decedent, Ayanna Patton, starting on 

February 2, 2011. (H13). She had last met with the decedent approximately a month before she 

was killed in Mayof2011. (B14). Ms. Dorsey, over the defendant's objection, was allowed to 

testify about the decedent's alleged state ofmind in believing that the defendant was going to kill 

her. (BIS-B23). According to Ms. Dorsey, "[s]he had voiced that she was concerned he was 

going to kill her, and she wanted to make sure that her mother got the baby."(B23) The 

prosecutor then reiterated the testimony by confirming that "she asked you to make sure her 

mother got the baby... when the defendant killed herT' (B27). The court then, over the 

defendant's objection, allowed Sandra Dorsey to offer opinion evidence concerning what she 

believed based upon her communications with the defendant. (B30-B32). Thus, the prosecutor 

asked the following questions: "Based on your understanding ofthe relationship specifically 

between Ayanna and the defendant, Marcus McKinley, can you tell the jurors how mntrol 

figured into the relationship?" Ms. I?orsey responded as follows: "[i]f someone is afraid that 

they are going to be harmed, then-and that's what Ayanna's concern was, was that she [was] 

going to be severely injured--then whatever the individual, Marcus in this case, tells them to do, 

they're going to do it, because they are going to want to live one more day. So if it's fear for the 

child, fear that they're going to take the child away from them through a CPS case, through other 

means, they're going to do whatever. Ifyou get invited out to eat dinner, you're going to go out 

to eat dinner, even though there is a restraining order." (B32) The defendant continued to object 

to this testimony and moved to strike. The Judge granted the motion to strike the evidence; 

however, the bell had been rung. 
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Ms. Dorsey was then allowed to testify about her concerns for the decedent's 

safety. She advised "I wrote letters to the baby's attorney. I talked with the baby's attorney. I 

wrote to Ayanna's attorney; CPS was notified, because as a social worker, I'm required by law if 

I believe reasonably that someone is going to get harmed or killed, I have to report that. So I 

wrote to Mr. Ash, also. I mean, they all received a-S.A.F.E. received a copy ofmy concerns." 

(B33). "You made these notifications in April and early May before Ayanna was killed?" "Yes I 

did." (B33). After the door was opened regarding the opinions made by Ms. Dorsey, defense 

counsel felt obligated to go into facts to undermine the validity ofthat opinion. Defense counsel 

spent a significant amount oftime talking about incidents that had taken place and contact that 

the decedent had had with the defendant. (B3S-B38). Then after defense counsel had impeached 

Ms. Dorsey with the fact that she wrote a memo to Scott Ash, the prosecuting attorney, feeling 

that it was not appropriate for both the victim and the defendant to be mested after a domestic 

violence incident, the Court allowed the entire letter to be read to the jury. That letter contained 

numerous opinions and further opened the door to substantial amounts ofopinion evidence. 

(B36, B39-B46). 

The letter takes nearly five pages of the transcript and ends with her prediction 

that the decedent will become another statistic by "I) she may end up dead; 2) she probably will 

not testify based upon the fact that she obtained a restraining order which he violated; 3) she has 

left the situation, as society expects women to do; 4) she was mested when he violated the 

restraining order and charge." (B46-B50). After reading this lengthy memo, Ms. Dorsey was 

then allowed to provide further opinion as to why the decedent would continue to have contact 

with Marcus McKinley. She opined "[w]hen as stated before-when Ayanna thought he was 

going to kill her, she would do whatever he asked her, recommended to her, told her to do in 
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order to stay alive another day. So ifhe asked her out, she was going out. She went out with him. 

She would pretend that there was a chance that they could get back together again, that she was 

happy in the relationship." (B51). The Judge sustained defense counsel's objection and cut her 

off there but the evidence remained before the jury. (B52). A limiting instruction was given by 

the Court but that limiting instruction, again, could not unring the bell. (B53-B54, B57-B59). 

Danny Via who serves as chief engineer with WVV A Television enhanced a cell 

phone voicemail by removing the file from a cell phone and burning it onto an audio CD. (B73-

B75). 

Police Officer, Jason Shrewsbury with the Bluefield Police Department testified 

that he maintained security at the scene ofthe homicide. (B76-B78). 

Detective Aaron Crook with the Bluefield Police Department testified next. The 

detective originally arrived on the scene and left to go to the victim's mother's residence. Then 

he attempted to locate the Defendant through the use ofGPS technology on the cell phone. 

(B79-B82). Ultimately, the detective was involved in tracking down the defendant in North 

Carolina using OPS coordinates. (B82-B83). He also transported the firearm, magazines for the 

flreann, nine unfired bullets, and two fired bullets to lab. (B84-B85). 

Thomas Reed, Jr., testified that he was like an uncle to the child ofthe deceased. 

(B88-B89). He was involved in the transport ofthe parties' child, Marcus McKinley, Jr. (B92). 

He testified about aprotective order that prevented the parties from being arOlmd each other. 

(B93). He also worked with the WVVA engineer to get the recording offofthe cell phone. 

(B95-B95). Importantly, he was yet another witness to testify about a domestic violence incident 

concerning arguments over a car seat that happened in April, a month before the decedent was 

killed. (B97-B99). 
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Jamie Nunley was a Department ofHealth and Human Resources Child Protective 

Services worker involved with the parties in this case. (BI02-BI03). Ms. Nunley was 

extensively questioned about her role with the family. Ms. Nunley testified about her interactions 

with the parties, about becoming involved with the parties after a violation ofa domestic 

violence protective order by Mr. McKinley, the arrest ofboth Mr. McKinley and the decedent, 

and about other incidents that she dealt with throughout the time she was involved in the case. 

(BI03-BI07). lhen over the defendant's objection, the trial court allowed Ms. Nunley to 

provide informati()D. as to what the decedent had said to her. Namely, she felt like the defendant 

would try to kill her. (B1 09-B 110). Ms. Nunley also testified about removing Marcus 

McKinley, Jr. and placing the child with another party. (B112). 

Detective John Whitt with the Bluefield Police Department testified that he had 

travelled to Nortl1 Carolina to bring the defendant back to West Virginia (B117-BI18). 

According to Officer Whitt, the defendant had volunteered that: 

... he didn't take the gun up there to shoot her, he had the gun for 
protection because he had been shot in the past, and that some of 
Ayanna Patton's brothers had threatened him. 

He said that ifhe was up there-he was up there the 
evening before, around 6 o'clock, and ifhe had intended to shoot 

~ her, he would've shot her then. 
He also asked ifhe would be able to talk to the 

detectives .... he asked to speak with the prosecutor and then I told 
him that before he spoke with the prosecutor or any law 
enforcement, he should talk to his attorney ... he said he didn't want 
this to happen this way, he wanted to work things out because of 
their child. 

And he said that he wanted to let her family know 
that he was sorry for what he had done, and that her mother had 
sent word to him saying she forgave him, but he knew deep down 
it would be hard for someone to forgive someone who killed your 
child... 
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(B119-BI20). According to Mr. Whitt, these statements were made spread out over the trip back 

from Charlotte to West Virginia. The trip took two and a halfto three hours. (B119-BI21). 

Patrolman Michael Ramsey of the Bluefield Police Department testified next. A 

three and a half year veteran ofthe department, he had had prior contact with the defendant and 

the decedent (B124-B125). He testified about an incident at the Knights Inn where he 

responded to a call from an individual reporting that someone was attempting to jump from the

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