IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


NO. 13-0745 


STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 

Plaintiff Below, Respondent, 

v. 


MARCUS PATRELE MCKINLEY, 


Defendant Below, Petitioner. 

BRIEF ON BEHALF OF THE RESPONDENT 

Comes now the respondent, the State ofWest Virginia by counsel, pursuant to the Revised 

Rules ofAppellate Procedure and an order from this Honorable Court, and files the within response 

to the petitioner's brief. 

I.

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

examination were objected to, and the error, if any in those questions and answers is waived. No 

objection was raised to the rebuttal witnesses, save for asking that one sentence from one witness 

be stricken. Again, in the absence ofan objection, the error as to those witnesses, if any, is waived. 

The ''testimony'' of the prosecutor was not objected to. The testimony of Sandra Dorsey, 

specifically the letter, was admitted on redirect, after defense counsel specifically opened the door 

by asking her about the contents ofthe letter in cross examination. Further, even if the letter (or its 

contents) should not have been read to the jury, any error in its admission was harmless based upon 

the overwhelming evidence of malice, intent, premeditation and deliberation that the petitioner 

himself testified to in recounting the events of the evening. 

A criminal defendant has no right to a plea offer, and any plea must be accepted by the court. 

A court may reject a plea agreement ifit believes such plea is not in the interest ofjustice. As noted 
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in the petitioner's brief, the entire circumstances ofthe rejection of the plea are not provided in the 

record. However, the objection of the victim's family to a plea is in and of itself sufficient for a 

court to find that the plea agreement would not be in the interest ofjustice. 

Finally, the evidence ofthe trooper regarding blood spatter, even iferror, was harmless. The 

gist ofhis testimony was that the victim was shot five times and that the blood sprayed because she 

was moving when she was shot. The petitioner acknowledged that in his cross examination. 

The petitioner complains that Facebook evidence was provided late. What was that 

evidence? What would it have shown? The petitioner states that he was prejudiced because trial 

strategy changed and a rift developed with the client. Those claims are not supported by the 

Appendix, and further in the absence ofa proffer as to what the evidence would have shown and how 

it helped the petitioner's case, the petitioner has failed to provide this Court with evidence to support 

this conclusory assertion of error. 

The petitioner raises the doctrine of cumulative error. The respondent asserts that as a 

significant number ofthe so-called errors were waived by failing to object below, invited by the trial 

strategy ofthe petitioner by introducing additional acts ofdomestic violence in his case in chief, and 

further invited by presenting evidence ofhis truthful and loving character, were not error at all, or 

if error harmless. 

The petitioner received a fair trial, and his conviction and sentence should be affirmed. 

III. 


STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 


The respondent asserts that as to the legal issues presented, the facts and arguments are 

adequately presented in the briefs and appendix, and the decisional process would not be aided by 
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oral argument. This matter is appropriate for a memorandum. decision. Should this Honorable Court 

believe oral argument necessary for any reason including the severity of the sentence or any other 

issue, the respondent would wish to participate. 

IV. 


ARGUMENT 


A. 	 The two incidents of prior domestic violence offered by the State-that is the 
April and March incidents before the victim was murdered in May, 2011, were 
properly admitted as res gestae. The defense then voluntarily chose to admit 
evidence of other acts of domestic violence, and such evidence proffered by the 
defense is not grounds for reversal. The defense also voluntarily elicited 
character evidence as to the petitioner's reputation for honesty and his 
character for peacefulness. Therefore, the questions asked of those character 
witnesses as to specific acts by the petitioner were relevant on cross 
examination. The victim's statements were not testimonial, and therefore not 
violative of Crawford. Her state of mind was relevant to the case at bar. 

The petitioner never denied shooting the victim, and in fact, conceded that he was guilty of 

at least voluntary manslaughter. Therefore, since the physical acts-the shooting and the death were 

conceded, the burden then rested on the State to prove the mental elements of first degree murder. 

That is, the State had to prove that petitioner not only shot and killed the victim, but acted with 

premeditation, deliberation, intention, and malice. Where as here, the victim had been abused during 

the relationship, courts have generally permitted the admission ofprevious acts ofdomestic violence 

either as Rule 404(b) "other conduct" evidence, or as evidence intrinsic to the event itself. 

As noted in Syllabus Points 7 and 8 of State v. Dennis, 216 W. Va. 331, 607 S.E.2d 437 

(2004), "Events, declarations and circumstances which are near in time, causally connected with, and 

illustrative oftransactions being investigated are generally considered res gestae and admissible at 
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trial." Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Ferguson, 165 W. Va. 529, 270 S.E.2d 166 (1980), overruled on other 

grounds by State v. Kopa 173 W. Va. 43, 311 S.E.2d 412 (1983). 

Other criminal act evidence admissible as part ofthe res gestae or same transaction introduced 

for the purpose of explaining the crime charged must be confined to that which is reasonably 

necessary to accomplish such purpose." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, State v. Spicer, 162 W. Va. 127,245 

S.E.2d 922 (1978). 

The crimes in Dennis were other acts ofdomestic violence that occurred in the three month 

period preceding the indicted offense, and were used to show the turbulent and violent nature ofthe 

relationship between the victim and the defendant, particularly his abusive and controlling nature. 

As the opinion in Dennis goes on to note, 

while the acts were not part of a "single criminal episode" or "necessary 
preliminaries" to the charged offenses, it is difficult to conclude that the evidence 
was not necessary ''to complete the story ofthe crimes on trial" or otherwise provide 
context to the crimes charged. Id This is especially true in light of the domestic 
violence overlay to the pattern ofbehavior. Even ifwe were to conclude that the trial 
court erred in fmding the prior act evidence to be res gestae, we believe the evidence 
would still be admissible under Rule 404(b). The incidents from Appellant's recent 
past would have satisfied a number ofacceptable purposes set forth in Rule 404(b), 
including proving motive, opportunity and knowledge. In either case, it seems 
doubtful that this case could have been appropriately presented without such 
background information. 

State v. Dennis, 216 W. Va. 331, 352, 607 S.E.2d 437, 458 (2004). 

This case is easily distinguishable from the evidence introduced by the State in State v. 

Bowling, 2013 WL 5583473 (W. Va. 2013) in which the evidence occurred two, or three years and 

more than six months before the murder. Here, as in Dennis, the incidents occurred within weeks 

ofthe homicide and were necessary to complete the story ofthe crime and to prove context. Further, 
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the evidence certainly was admissible under Rule 404(b). The evidence was necessary and 

admissible to prove the state's case. 

The petitioner went forward with evidence. Among the witnesses and testimony proffered 

by the petitioner were Terri Williams, who testified about an occasion when Ayanna gave the 

petitioner a black eye and other domestic difficulties. (App. at B268-69.) Greg Arnold testified 

about the petitioner receiving a black eye. (Id. at B299.) Rondah Lowe testified about the black eye 

and scratches the petitioner received from Ayanna. (Id. at B306.) Willie Rose, a police officer, 

testified about an incident where Ayanna kicked a car and the petitioner called the police. (Id. at 

B313, B316.) Shante McKinley testified about the black eye, and about Ayanna's violent behavior 

in punching holes in the wall and damaging the petitioner's personal property. (Id. at B321.) 

As testimony by each of those witnesses regarding the turbulent nature of the relationship 

was elicited by defense counsel during presentation of the case in chief, that testimony is not error. 

"'Invited error' is a cardinal rule of appellate review applied to a wide range of conduct. It is a 

branch ofthe doctrine ofwaiver which prevents a party from inducing an inappropriate or erroneous 

response and then later seeking to profit from that error. The idea of invited error is not to make the 

evidence admissible but to protect principles underlying notions ofjudicial economy and integrity 

by allocating appropriate responsibility for the inducement oferror. Having induced an error, a party 

in a normal case may not at a later stage of the trial use the error to set aside its immediate and 

adverse consequences. In Syllabus Point 1 of State v. Compton, 167 W. Va. 16,277 S.E.2d 724 

(1981), we stated: '''An appellant or plaintiff in error will not be permitted to complain oferror in 

the admission of evidence which he offered or elicited, and this is true even of a defendant in a 

criminal case.' Syl. pt. 2, State v. Bowman, 155 W. Va. 562, 184 S.E.2d 314 (1971)." State v. 

Crabtree, 198 W. Va. 620, 627,482 S.E.2d 605, 612 (1996). 
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The admission ofthe state's two incidents ofdomestic violence as intrinsic to the crime was 

not error, and did not "force" the petitioner to bring in other evidence ofbad conduct. Further, the 

clear tenor ofthe questions put by defense counsel to petitioner's witnesses was to demonstrate that 

the victim was the individual who acted badly in the relationship, including engaging in physical 

violence, and that the petitioner did not. 

Further, in presentation of his case, the petitioner elected to ask questions of his witnesses 

regarding his character. The questions were asked about his reputation for truthfulness (and 

specifically about the petitioner's interaction with the witness) but also asked, in general terms, about 

what sort of individual the petitioner was. 

Rondah Lowe was asked whether the petitioner was honest and truthful. (App. at B307.) 

She answered in the affirmative and on cross examination was questioned whether this honest and 

truthful person had told her about specific acts of violence committed by him against Ayanna 

including kicking her and stabbing her. There was no objection to those questions. (Id. at B309.) 

She did not consider him to be a violent person, even after learning he had shot Ayanna 5 times and 

killed her. (Id. at B310.) Shante McKinley testified about acts ofviolence committed by Ayanna 

against the petitioner, and was asked on cross examination about the aforementioned stabbing, 

kicking and choking. (Id. at B326.) Those questions and answers did not elicit an objection. 

Sylvia Taylor was asked about the petitioner's reputation for being honest and forthright, and 

answered that he had a good reputation and she "never heard anything negative about him." (Id. at 

B329-30.) The same line of questions about other incidents ensued; no objection was made. (Id. 

at B330-31.) 
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Other witnesses, while not cross-examined about specific instances ofpetitioner's conduct 

testified that the petitioner was "calm, respectable, honest" and not violent (id. at B336), not violent 

towards a former girlfriend (id. at B341); a wonderful young man, (id. at B346), a sweet, kind 

person (id. at B349.). 

The petitioner testified that he never struck Ayanna until the night before he killed her, and 

that the only other times he was physical with her was to push her away in self defense. He 

specifically stated he never cut her, kicked her, or threatened to kill her. (Id. at B420-21.) During 

cross, the prosecuting attorney did comment, seemingly without asking a question, about domestic 

violence in general. No objection was made. (ld. at B461.) 

In rebuttal, several witnesses testified that Ayanna told them the petitioner had kicked her 

when she was pregnant. That statement was objected to as hearsay, and overruled as a permissible 

present sense impression. Further, the prosecutor specifically stated that his rebuttal evidence was 

not admissible until the door was opened during presentation of the defense case. Then, several 

witnesses testified as to statements Ayanna made to them about her fear the petitioner would kill her, 

that she said the petitioner had stabbed her, and that he was controlling. The only objection to those 

witnesses was to a photograph showing the stab wound. 

The petitioner acknowledges that trial counsel objected to one witness as hearsay, and was 

overruled. However, no objection was raised to the other witnesses. 

The petitioner having placed his character for being a wonderful young man, kind, non

violent, and honest into evidence was subject to having his good character impeached. The 

petitioner chose to present evidence ofhis general good, non-violent character, and ofhis reputation 

for truthfulness. The trial court determined, over the prosecution's objection that the evidence was 
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admissible under Rule 404(a) as a pertinent trait ofhis character offered by the accused. Therefore, 

under Rule 405 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence: "On cross-examination, inquiry is 

allowable into specific instances of conduct." 

No objection was interposed to the cross-examination of the character witnesses, and 

therefore, the objection is waived. 

Additionally, objection was raised only to one ofthe rebuttal witnesses, on the grounds that 

her testimony was hearsay. Although the petitioner's briefproffers that such testimony is violative 

of the Confrontation Clause, it is axiomatic that the admission of hearsay-even the erroneous 

admission ofhearsay does not implicate Constitutional Rights. In the case at bar, the petitioner does 

not posit that the statements by Ayanna were testimonial, but merely that they were irrelevant as her 

state of mind was irrelevant. However, her statements that the petitioner stated he would kill her 

was illustrative not only ofher state ofmind, but his, and therefore admissible to show premeditation 

and deliberation. In State v. Sutphin, 195 W. Va. 551,466 S.E.2d 402 (1995), the court examined 

the propriety of threats made to the victim, which she related to her father and stated: 

we believe the threat is a manifestation ofthe defendant's state ofmind as it 
relates to the issue ofpremeditation and is therefore an exception to the hearsay rule 
under W.Va.R.Evid. 803(3). Despite the lapse of three months between the threat 
and its fulfillment, the record convinces us that the day of the shooting was the first 
time since the threat was made that the victim attempted to commit the underlying 
act which would trigger the threat-leaving the defendant. 

State v. Sutphin, 195 W. Va. 551, 562,466 S.E.2d 402,413 (1995). 

This Honorable Court cogently noted in State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 17,459 S.E.2d 114, 

128 (1995), that ''the failure of a litigant to assert a right in the trial court likely will result in a 

procedural bar to an appeal of that issue." The Miller Court, in accord with the United States 
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Supreme Court, distinguished "waiver" and "forfeiture." Waiver is the intentional relinquishment 

of a known right, and when there is a knowing waiver, there is no error. However, forfeiture of a 

right--the failure to assert such right in a timely fashion--does not extinguish the error. Plain error 

may be corrected in circumstances where a miscarriage ofjustice would otherwise result. The error 

must indeed be plain, which means obvious. If there is "plain" error, to which no timely objection 

was raised, a determination must be made as to whether that error actually affected substantial rights 

ofthe defendant. That means that the error must have been prejudicial and affected the outcome of 

the proceedings. Further, the defendant bears the burden of persuasion with respect to prejudice. 

Miller, 194 W. Va. at 18,459 S.E.2d at 129. 

The Court noted in Syi. Pt. 4 ofState v. England, 180 W. Va. 342,376 S.E.2d 548 (1988), 

that the plain error doctrine 

enables this Court to take notice oferror ... occurring during the proceedings, even 
though such error was not brought to the attention of the trial court. However, the 
doctrine is to be used sparingly and only in those circumstances where substantial 
rights are affected, or the truth-finding process is substantially impaired, or a 
miscarriage ofjustice would other wise result. 

Additionally, this Court stated in Syi. Pt. 7 of State v. LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294,470 S.E.2d 613 

(1996): 

In clear terms, the plain error rule should be exercised only to avoid a miscarriage of 
justice. The discretionary authority ofthis Court invoked by lesser errors should be 
exercised sparingly and should be reserved for the correction ofthose few errors that 
seriously affect the fairness, integrity, or public reputation ofthe judicial proceedings.

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